# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD REYNOLDS, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. SC01-1114

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent,

----/

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES PAGE(S)
Andrews v. State, 679 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) 35
<u>Akins v. State</u> , 691 So.2d 587, 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) . 34
<pre>Brown v. State, 124 So.2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960) 38</pre>
<u>Carrodine v. State</u> , 633 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) 35
<u>Castor v. State</u> , 365 So.2d 701(Fla. 1978)
<pre>Chicone v. State, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 199626,29,30,33,35,38,39</pre>
<pre>Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 544, 113 S.Ct. 2217, 2232, 124 L.Ed.2d 472 (1993)</pre>
<u>Gerds v. State</u> , 64 So.2d 915(Fla. 1978)
<u>Jozens v. State</u> , 649 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 34
<u>Linehan v. State</u> , 442 So.2d 244(Fla. 2d DCA 1983) 30,31
<u>Purifoy v. State</u> , 359 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1978)
Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956(Fla. 1981)
<u>Robles v. State</u> , 188 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1966)
Reynolds v. State, 784 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1st DCA April 12, 2001)
<u>Sanders v. State</u> , 765 So. 2d 778(Fla. 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA 2000), review dism., 796 So. 2d 533(Fla. 2001)
<u>Sanford v. Rubin</u> , 237 So.2d 134(Fla. 1970)
<u>State v. Delva</u> , 575 So.2d 643(Fla. 1991)
State v. Hicks, 421 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1982)

<u>State v. Huggins</u> , 744 So.2d 1215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) 28
<u>Scott v. State</u> , SC94701 (Fla. Jan. 3, 2002) 26,39
<u>Staples v. United States</u> , 511 U.S. at 600, 114 S.Ct. 1793, 128 L.Ed.2d 608 (1994)
<u>State v. Cohen</u> , 545 So.2d 894 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1989), <u>aff'd</u> , 568 So.2d 49 (Fla. 1990)
<u>State v. Gray</u> , 435 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1983) 32,33
<u>State v. Oxx</u> , 417 So.2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) 26
<u>State v. Simbach</u> , 742 So.2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) 28,29,30
<u>Stewart v. State</u> , 420 So.2d 862, 863 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u> , 460 U.S. 1103, 103 S.Ct. 1802, 76 L.Ed.2d 366 (1983)
<u>Von Deck v. State</u> , 607 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1992) 35
FLORIDA STATUTES
PAGE(s)
Florida Statutes Section 828.12(1997)
Florida Statutes Section 828.22
Florida Statutes Section 828.23
Florida Statutes Section 828.24
Florida Statutes Section 828.05
Florida Statutes Section 828.058(1997)
<u>Others</u>
"They Die Piece by Piece: In Overtaxed Plants, Humane Treatment of Cattle Is Often a Battle Lost," Washington Post (April 10, 2001, p. A1)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD REYNOLDS,
Petitioner

VS.

CASE NO. SC01-1114

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_:

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

# I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal. Reynolds v. State, 784 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1st DCA April 12, 2001).

Petitioner was convicted at jury trial of animal cruelty.

Proceedings were held in Leon County; Circuit Judge Janet E.

Ferris heard the trial and imposed sentence, but Judge J.

Lewis Hall, Jr. heard the first motion to dismiss.

The one-volume record on appeal, with three separately bound hearing transcripts attached, will be referred to as "R"; the two-volume trial transcript as "T1" and "T2," and the sentencing transcript as "Sent."

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Ronald Reynolds, was charged by third amended information filed February 5, 1998, in Leon County, with cruelty to an animal, the allegation being that he slashed a dog's throat; the animal did not die; the date alleged was October 10, 1997 (R 13,17).

November 6, 1998, Reynolds filed a motion to dismiss, arguing the statute was unconstitutional as applied on the ground the distinction between the misdemeanor and the felony - that is, the distinction between "unnecessary cruelty," "tor-ment" and "torture" was unconstitutionally vague, and was being selectively enforced (R 28-29). After a hearing December 22, Judge Hall denied the motion (R 69 et seq., 101).

February 5, 1999, Reynolds filed a second motion to dismiss, arguing the state committed a <u>Brady</u> violation in failing to reveal exculpatory evidence until after the jury was selected (R 32-35). The evidence at issue was a written incident report from the animal shelter in which an unnamed 12-year-old witness identified Anthony Jones, also known as "Ronnie," who was the dog's owner, as the person who slit its throat.

After a hearing February 8, the prosecutor said the latefiled reports were not police reports, but were from the animal shelter, and they were provided to the defense the same day the prosecutor received them (R 111). Judge Ferris held there was no discovery violation, or if there were, it was inadvertent (R 121) and denied the motion (R 129).

February 10, the state filed a motion in limine seeking to prohibit any mention of out-of-court statements made by Animal Control Officer Joe Williams to Police Officer Andrew McClenahan on the ground they are hearsay (R 36-37).

At a hearing, the defense argued the statements were not hearsay because they would not be offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but rather, to show the police's failure to investigate (R 141-46). The state argued the defense intended to offer the statements for the truth of the matter (R 148). Judge Ferris ruled the defense would be allowed to inquire as to failure to investigate, but otherwise reserved ruling (R 151,158-59). The out-of-court statements were excluded at trial.

At trial February 10 before Judge Ferris, petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (T1 86-87, T2 191). The jury found Reynolds guilty as charged (R 44).

April 9, 1999, Reynolds was sentenced to 78.8 months (6.56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The date of this hearing is marked on the transcript as February 10, but the trial was held February 10, and this hearing must have been held the afternoon before, as the court and the parties discussed what they could expect as far as news media.

years) in prison, with credit for time served of 508 days (R 49-53). His presumptive guidelines sentence was 63 months, with a range of 47.2 to 78.8 months (5.25 years, with a range of 3.93 to 6.56 years) (R 45-46). A public defender lien of \$540 was imposed (R 56), and court costs of \$308 were reduced to a civil judgment (R 55).

Petitioner appealed the facial constitutionality of the statute. The First District rejected this argument, and petitioner sought review in this court. Reynolds v. State, 784 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1st DCA April 12, 2001).

The district court said:

[Reynolds] seeks review of his conviction for "intentionally commit[ting] an act to an[] animal which result[ed] in the ... excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering" in violation of section 828.12(2), Florida Statutes (1997).

# Id.

He claims that (1) section 828.12(2) is facially unconstitutional because it does not include a specific intent element. In the alternative, he claims that, assuming specific intent is an element of the offense, (2) his motion for a judgment of acquittal should have been granted because the state failed to present a prima facie case as to intent; (3) the information is fundamentally defective because it does not allege that he acted with specific intent; and (4) the trial court committed fundamental error when it gave a jury instruction. . .that did not include a specific intent element.

### Id. The court held:

We conclude that (1) section 828.12(2) requires only

general intent; and (2) the lack of a specific intent element does not render the statute facially unconstitutional. Accordingly, we affirm.

# According to the court:

. . . the clear language of the statute requires only that one "intentionally commit[] an act to any ani-mal which results in the cruel death, or excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering" to be guilty of the offense. It does not require that one commit an act intending to cause a cruel death or excessive or repeated unnecessary pain or suffering. Historically, the former has been called a "general intent" crime, and the latter has been called a "specific intent" crime.

Id. The court then explained the distinction, citing Linehan
v. State, 442 So.2d 244, 247-48 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)(en banc),
app'd as to result only, 476 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1985).

### The court concluded:

The legislature has, by plain language, declared that one is guilty of the crime proscribed by section 828.12(2) regardless of whether he or she acted with the specific intent to inflict upon an animal a cruel death or excessive or repeated unnecessary pain or suffering. We hold that section 828.12(2) is not unconstitutional because it lacks a specific intent element.

Id.

#### III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Over his denial, petitioner, Ronald Reynolds, was con-victed of animal cruelty for slashing a dog's throat. Surgery was performed and the animal survived.

First motion to dismiss. Petitioner argued the statute was unconstitutional as applied for failing to give fair notice that slitting a dog's throat intending to kill it constituted "excessive infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering" under the felony statute, as opposed to "torment" or "unnecessary mutilation" under the misdemeanor provision (R 75 et seq.). Counsel argued that throat-slitting was recognized by deer hunters and slaughterhouses as a humane method of killing an animal, and the fact this animal did not die was not determina-tive of criminal liability (R 75). The motion was denied.

Trial. Tallahassee Animal Control Officer Lisa Yarbrough responded to a call to Golf Terrace on October 10, 1997 (T1 25). She found the dog in a 15-foot-deep ditch with its throat slashed. It was bloody and looked terrified. There was a lot of debris in the ditch (T1 26). Yarbrough called the police because she needed a ladder or other assistance from the fire department to get the dog out, because the ditch was so deep (T1 26-27). Tallahassee Police Officer McClenahan

answered the call (T1 27).

The dog hid under some debris. Yarbrough had to use a control pole and a muzzle to control it (T1 28-29). She took the dog to an animal hospital, where surgery was performed and it survived (T1 30).

The complainant, Dorothy Bivins, gave Yarbrough a description of the suspect, but made no statement about the facts. Five days later, on October 15, Bivins spoke to Control Officer Joe Williams, while Yarbrough was present (T1 30-32).

On cross, Yarbrough said Bivins lived at 2508 Golf Ter-race, and the dog was found in the ditch across the street in front of 2514. There's a big tree in front of the ditch (T1 34).

No one claiming to be the dog's owner spoke to Yarbrough, and she did not speak to Anthony Jones (T1 35-36).

Dorothy Bivins testified that she knew Ronald Reynolds, not personally, but as someone who lived at the neighbor's house (T1 39-40). While Bivins was sitting on the porch with her kids, Reynolds told some kids to catch the dog (T1 41). Then he took the dog over toward the ditch, slashed its throat with a pocketknife, and threw it in the ditch (T1 41-43). Bivins' son, Solomon Houston, age 16, testified he saw Reynolds slash the dog; then Reynolds washed off the knife at a spigot (T1 56).

Bivins called the police, who said they did not handle that, so she called the animal shelter. They told her it would be 30 minutes to an hour before they arrived; she told them the dog would be dead by then (T1 44-45). Bivins said she was con-cerned about her own dog being cut (T1 45). Several months earlier, there had been some fighting between her daughters and the daughters of the woman (Reynolds' girlfriend) who lived at 2510 Golf Terrace, and a police officer spoke to the other mother (T1 46-48). Bivins had moved away from there six months before trial (T1 49).

On cross, Bivins said she may have told Officer McClenahan she was 500 to 600 feet away from where the dog was slashed, but she was mistaken and it was not that far (T1 49-51).

On cross, Solomon Houston, Bivins' son, agreed that An-thony Jones, who is his cousin and his mother's nephew, owned the dog (T1 59-60).<sup>2</sup> Anthony did not want the dog. Did he want to get rid of the dog? "I guess so" (T1 60). Although Anthony was related to Bivins and Houston, he was staying at Reynolds' house. Anthony was at Reynolds' house that night; Solomon believed Anthony was not outside (T1 62). Solomon did not know whether Anthony knew Ronald cut the dog (T1 63).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Officer McClenahan suggested it was more of a neighborhood stray (T1 115). Petitioner Reynolds said he fed it sometimes (T2 178)

Leslie Campbell, DVM, testified that the wound was obviously painful to the dog, which was a couple of months old (T1 70). The wound was deep and wide. It went across the throat from ear to ear (T1 69,74). It went through skin, a fat layer and the muscles, all the way down to the internal structures breathing tube and food tube - but the internal structures were not cut (T1 71). If you cut the jugular vein, the person or animal would bleed to death immediately. The cut was a "milli-meter" away from and exposed the jugular vein (T1 75). Because the wound did not hit a major artery or vein, the blood would seep out, rather than spurting (T1 71). That means the person who did it would not necessarily have much blood on him (T1 72). The doctor had to suture the tissue in layers, so the dog probably had 100 internal stitches and 50 external stitches and staples (T1 78,80).

On cross, asked whether the injuries were intended to kill the dog, Dr. Campbell said, "I would assume there's no other reason to slit a dog's throat." Q: And the wound was sufficiently deep? A: Yes, ma'am (T1 82-83).

After the state rested, the defense called Police Officer Andrew McClenahan as a hostile witness (T1 93). He and Officer Dave Johnson arrived together. There was a small crowd present (T1 94). Sergeant Lewis Johnson and two more

officers arrived within minutes. It was too hard to get the dog out of the ditch because it was 10 to 12 feet deep, filled with trash, and the sides were very slick. McClenahan helped Yarbrough "secure the dog" in the ditch (T1 95).

He is not sure how long Sgt. Johnson stayed on the scene. Q: What did Sgt. Johnson do to investigate? "Nothing." Mc-Clenahan would say he was in charge of the case from the 13th until Reynolds was arrested, but from the 10th to the 13th, McClenahan would say he was not in charge, but no one was (T1 96-98). Sometime around then, McClenahan wrote an affidavit to have an arrest warrant issued (T1 99).

McClenahan did not secure the crime scene (T1 100). In his opinion, it is impossible to secure a crime scene when it is someone's yard with a crowd of people in it (T1 101). He saw nothing of evidentiary value at the location where Bivins and Houston said it happened (T1 102). There was no blood at the faucet where Bivins said Reynolds washed blood off the knife (T1 105). There were no muddy footprints leading from the faucet to the house. The only blood he saw was what dripped off the dog's coat (T1 109).

Bivins did not identify Reynolds to him until he interviewed her on a later date, the 14th or 15th. He did not interview her immediately, because she was afraid the people

at 2510 would see her talking to the police (T1 110).

Reynolds was **not** among the people standing on the porch at 2510 that night (T1 110-11).

Anthony Jones' name, also known as Ronnie, was initially given as a suspect. McClenahan ruled him out on the basis of Jones' written statement which denied any involvement.

Bivins - Jones' aunt - gave McClenahan the statement. Jones wrote that he was present that night, and that he had cared for the dog (T1 112-14). McClenahan never interviewed Jones (T1 119). McClenahan also received information from Joe Williams, at Animal Control, but Williams did not witness the incident (T1 112-13). McClenahan ruled out Jones as a suspect because Bivins and Houston said Reynolds did it, i.e., his evidence consists solely of their statements (T1 118). When inter-viewed, Reynolds denied he cut the dog (T1 115).

When he interviewed Reynolds, McClenahan took a pocket knife from him, but it was never tested to see if it were the same knife used to cut the dog (T1 121-22). McClenahan had no way of knowing if it were the same knife (T1 123).

On cross, when asked if the people at 2510 were coopera-tive or uncooperative, McClenahan said:

I'm very familiar with that address and they're not cooperative.

(T1 127). The defense objected that the state had violated the court's order granting a pretrial motion in limine regarding people in the house. The court offered a cautionary instruction, which defense counsel accepted (T1 127-30). Bivins, on the other hand, was "hesitantly cooperative. She was a little nervous about talking to me" (T1 131).

His sergeant decided this was an animal control matter, the police were there only for crowd control, and once the police left the scene, it was animal control's investigation.

McClenahan did not agree with that and pursued his own investigation (T1 138).

Ann Marie Dowden, of the FDLE Regional Crime Lab serology section, did not find any blood on either of two knives [taken from Reynolds] she received in this case (T2 167-68). She believes the knives could have been tested to determine if they caused the dog's cuts (T2 169). Blood could have been on the knives and washed off, but it is unlikely blood was undetec-table because the tests are "extremely sensitive" (T2 171). Washing a knife under a spigot would ordinarily cause some back splash of blood onto the knife, if the blood was still wet (T2 172).

Ronald Reynolds testified in his own behalf that he has been convicted of a felony three times. He was living at 2510 Golf

Terrace with his girlfriend, Joann Walker, and her chil-dren. He was working maintenance at a trailer park 100 yards away (T2 174). Anthony Jones occasionally stayed at Walker's house; at one time, Jones was dating one of her daughters (T2 176). Reynolds was not personally aware of the problems between Walker and Bivins. When he saw some kids looking in the ditch, Reynolds went over and saw the dog there with its throat slashed (T2 177). He did not call the police because he thought it was dead. He went back to work (T2 178).

Reynolds had seen the dog in the neighborhood before and occasionally fed it (T2 178). He did not cut the dog. Nor was he "hiding under the bed" when McClenahan arrived; he was hook-ing up a cable line behind the bed and did not know the police were there (T2 179-80). He was arrested at work on October 16. He does not know who cut the dog (T2 181).

Chris Rollins, Joann Walker's 10-year-old son, testified that, while Anthony Jones owned the dog, everybody fed it sometimes. Did [Jones] take care of the dog? "Not really, because he used to be gone" and did not take care of it (T2 188). Chris did not see who hurt the dog (T2 187). Ronnie was on the porch; Chris was inside wrestling with his brothers (T2 187,190).

#### IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: Constitutionality. Florida has no general ban on the killing of animals, as with all due respect, anyone who has eaten a hamburger should realize. In applying that rule to the instant case, there are two issues. First, is the rule different where pet animals, as opposed to livestock or animals raised to be killed for food, are concerned? Second, is the suffering accidentally caused an animal by the inefficient attempt to kill it in a humane method prosecutable under the statute?

Petitioner contends, first, that Florida law makes little distinction - none that is relevant here - among different types of animals. Second, assuming arguendo that Reynolds attempted to kill the dog, killing an animal is lawful, as long as the killing is done humanely; he chose a method recognized as humane; and the fact that he accidentally failed to kill, and in failing, accidentally caused the dog to suffer are not prosecutable under the statute.

Petitioner contends that, assuming arguendo that the literal language of the statute allows his conviction, it is facially unconstitutional for failing to contain a scienter/specific intent element. The scienter/specific intent element means it is not sufficient that he intend the act, he must

also intend to cause suffering.

In holding animal cruelty to be a general intent crime, the district court holds unintentional cruelty sufficient for the crime, because no specific intent is required. The fatal flaw in the court's reasoning is that killing or attempting to kill an animal is generally not a crime in Florida. Thus, specific intent to cause suffering is constitutionally essential in order to distinguish those limited circumstances under which an ordinarily lawful act can be prosecuted.

Issue II: Charging document and sufficiency of the evidence. In failing to allege the scienter/specific intent element, the information wholly failed to charge a crime, and the failure to charge a crime is fundamental error.

The evidence is also legally insufficient for the state offered no evidence Reynolds intended the animal suffer, as opposed to it having happened inadvertently. Sufficiency is also fundamental error.

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