### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD REYNOLDS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC01-1114

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

DANIEL A. DAVID ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0650412

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4573 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

As to Petitioner's many policy arguments over meatcutters, euthanasia of strays, veterinary malpractice, sportsmen, etc., peppered throughout his brief, this Court has already addressed that precise question. In addressing the 1979 version of this statute, it was clearly stated, <u>Wilkerson v. State</u>, 401 So.2d 1110, 1112 (Fla. 1981):

Appellant has raised some difficult questions concerning the applicability of this statute to hunters, fisherman, and pest exterminators. We believe that these hypothetical questions are properly addressed to the legislature than to the courts.

To adopt Petitioner's formulation would require this Court, for the first time in a non-First Amendment scenario as far as Respondent has been unable to uncover, to hold an enactment of the Florida Legislature facially unconstitutional based on "the nebulous distinction" between general and specific intent crimes. It would also require this Court to wade into policy

questions the Court has already wisely determined are the province of the Legislature.

The proper approach is to uphold the well reasoned, legally supported decision of the First District below that general intent is sufficient for this statute. If the Court goes further, it is suggested that this is the appropriate case to eliminate the specific/general intent distinction.

## ISSUE II

DID THE CHARGING DOCUMENT FAIL TO CONTAIN AN ELEMENT OF INTENT? (Restated)

### Suggestion that Review was Improvidently Granted

Respondent re-adopts this portion of its argument set out under Issue One, but with the observation that the conclusion is even more potent under this issue. For, as Petitioner concedes (Petitioner's Merits Brief, p. 32) and as is inarguable based on the decision below<sup>5</sup>, this issue was never passed upon by the First District.

Should this Court find this matter susceptible of merits review, Respondent submits that the proper approach is not initial error review here. This issue breaks no new legal ground. It is rather the application of settled principles to a particular fact pattern. Thus the case should be returned to the First District for resolution and a possible merits decision which would result in a more efficacious review of the legal issue by this Court should such later be deemed warranted on this record.

#### Merits

Petitioner breaks this issue into two sub-claims, which, for the sake of clarity and coherence, will be addressed in the order presented by Petitioner. Petitioner's first sub-issue ("Failure to charge element of the offense") is grounded entirely on the analytical misperception permeating his entire brief, Petitioner's Merits Brief, p. 33:

 $<sup>^5\</sup>underline{\text{Reynolds v. State}}$ , 784 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001): "Our resolution of appellant's first claim of error moots his remaining claims."

In fact, because the statute requires that a scienter/specific intent element be read into it in order for it to be constitutional, this is "the rare instance [where] and information tracking the language of the statute defining the crime [is] insufficient to put the accused on notice of the misconduct charged." Chicone, 684 So.2d at 744

(insertion by bracketing by Petitioner)

In point of fact, as made clear in Issue One, the statute requires no such thing as a specific intent element to be read into it. Such illusory and unworkable distinction has been explored in Issue One and the points need not be repeated anew.

In so stating, Respondent stresses that it has no quarrel with the proposition that scienter is needed to violate this statute. It is not a strict liability crime, and Respondent recognizes that mens rea is required commit the offense.

Such mental element is clearly required by the statute petitioner was convicted under, Chapter 828. 12(2), Fla. Stat. (1997), which provides:

A person who intentionally commits an act to any animal which results in the cruel death, or excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering, or causes the same to be done, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or by a fine of not more than \$10,000, or both.

The First District below did nothing other than apply the well settled principles of <u>Gray</u>, <u>Chicone</u>, and <u>Bussey</u> that general intent was sufficient under established legislative prerogative and that the statute was thus constitutional. Once the superfluous and unnecessary "distinction" between specific and general intent is not "read into" the statute as Petitioner so

demands, it becomes clear that there is no infirmity with the charging instrument. To stress anew, it is only with the "reading into" the statute of petitioner's self-discerned necessity of specific as opposed to general intent that it even becomes possible for Petitioner to construct this misleading claim.

Once the confusing specific versus general intent claim is "read out" of the statute (which doesn't even have such a requirement to begin with), the issue is clarified. The information in this case tracked the statute, which as noted by the First District below, required a general intent. There is thus no defect with either the statute or the charging document (R:17).

Petitioner's second claim is that the evidence is legally insufficient. (Petitioner's Merits Brief, p. 34). Respondent asserts this claim is procedurally barred because petitioner merely made a cursory pro forma JOA argument in the trial court, and did not raise this claim in so doing. (TI:86, TII:191). As such, the issue is procedurally barred. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.380(b): "The motion [for judgment of acquittal] must fully set forth the grounds on which it is based." Not having done so in the trial court, the claim is unpreserved for purposes of appellate review. Williams v. State, 531 So.2d 212, 216 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Ogletree v. State, 525 So.2d 967, 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Pregnant in petitioner's assertion that the evidence was not legally sufficient, is his own self-created specific/general intent contention. As noted prior, this is not a valid contention.

Petitioner claims "the state failed to offer any evidence that Reynolds intended to cause the dog to suffer." (Petitioner's Merits Brief, p. 34). In <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 1312, 1317 (Fla. 1997) this Court stated: "[I]ntent may be proved by considering the conduct of the accused and his colleagues before, during, and after the alleged attempt along with any other relevant circumstances." (in context of attempted armed robbery).(citation deleted). It is also inarguable that intent is a state of mind, hardly ever susceptible of direct proof, but proven up inferentially. See, e.g., State v. Mitchell, 666 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) ("defendant's knowledge and intent are rarely shown by direct evidence and may be proven by circumstantial evidence") citing State v. Norris, 384 So.2d 298 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1980); <u>Bostic v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 613, 614 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994) ("mental intent is rarely subject to direct proof, and must be established based on surrounding circumstances in the case"); Brewer v. State, 413 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982):

Although the State must prove intent just as any other element of a crime, a defendant's mental intent is hardly ever subject to direct proof. Instead, the State must establish the defendant's intent (and jury must reasonably attribute such intent) based on the surrounding circumstances in the case. (internal citation deleted)

Thus, the State need have no sworn statement from Petitioner to the end, "Yes, I intended to kill the dog and while so doing I further specifically intended the dog suffer unnecessary pain and a cruel death." His requisite mens rea at the time he committed the culpable act is clearly inerrable from the act, and his actions before, during, and after the crime.

From two witnesses, the following was established: Petitioner directed some neighborhood children to catch the puppy (TI:41), Petitioner picked up the puppy, slashed its throat (TI: 41-42, 43) and then tossed the dog into a ditch. (TI:42). The defendant was the one who slashed the dog. (TI:51, 58). After he did this, petitioner walked away and washed his knife off. (TI:56). The puppy was laying on its side, bleeding and shaking. (TI:57). Animal Control arrived about 15-20 minutes after being called. (TI:45).

Contrary to petitioner's claim, this is more than adequate legally sufficient evidence to show his culpability under the applicable statute, viz, to "intentionally commit[] an act to an[] animal which results in a cruel death, or excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering[.]" Chapter 828. 12 (2), Florida Statutes (1997). The testimony of one witness is enough to establish legal sufficiency of the evidence. I.R. v. State, 385 So. 2d 686, 687-688 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980):

Where the evidence is in conflict, it is within the province of the trier of fact to assess the credibility of witnesses, and upon evaluating the

testimony, rely upon the testimony found by it to be worthy of belief and reject such testimony found by it to be untrue. ... The testimony of a single witness, even if uncorroborated and contradicted by other state witnesses, is sufficient to sustain a conviction.

This Court is in accord with <u>I.R.</u>. <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120, 1126 (Fla. 1981) evidence of conviction based "primarily on the uncorroborated testimony of the rape victim" legally sufficient. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 167 So.2d 309, 310 (Fla. 1964), where the only evidence was testimony of the victim was held legally sufficient for a rape conviction.

The state put on more than one witness who testified to what Petitioner did. The testimony of one establishes legally sufficient evidence to support the conviction. <u>I.R.</u>, <u>Tibbs</u>, <u>Thomas</u>. Once the misleading specific/general intent issue is properly eliminated, it becomes apparent Petitioner has no viable argument under this contention.

### **ISSUE III**

MAY A DEFENDANT AT TRIAL AFFIRMATIVELY AGREE TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND THEN CLAIM ON APPEAL THAT THESE AGREED TO INSTRUCTIONS CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR? (Restated)

# Suggestion that Review was Improvidently Granted

Respondent re-adopts this portion of its argument set out under Issue Two, with the observation that this issue, like that in Issue Two was never passed upon by the First District below<sup>6</sup>, and further, that this claim is procedurally barred, as will be developed below.

#### Procedural Bar

This Court has held, Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla.), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 117 S.Ct. 197, 136 L.Ed.2d 134 (1996): "[J]ury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred." The situation here does not constitute fundamental error. Not only were the jury instructions now complained of not objected to at trial, the language was affirmatively agreed to. This issue is thus incapable of review.

The jury charge conference reveals this:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Reynolds v. State, 784 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2001): "Our resolution of appellant's first claim of error moots his remaining claims."

THE COURT: All right, now, back to the statement of the charge. Does counsel have any proposed language in terms of how to state the elements of the offense? MR. LAMPASSO [Prosecutor]: Judge, the State does. Since there wasn't anything in the book, itself, the proposal that we have here is just that it read Florida to animals, Statutes cruelty Subsection (2). Before you can find the defendant guilty of cruelty to animals, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt: One, the defendant intentionally committed an act upon the animal; two, the act resulted in excessive infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering. We're asking to take out the words "or repeated," because we don't really feel that's an issue.

THE COURT: And you're also deleting the cruel death, which obviously does not apply.

MR. LAMPASSO: Right. THE COURT: All right.

MS KIRWIN [Asst. Public Defender]: Judge, we would agree with Mr. Lampasso's language.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Lampasso, if I could have your draft so we can get that incorporated into the final instructions.

MR. HARLEY [Co-prosecutor]: Judge, you're not going to read the statute, the paragraph that you have here on the first page?

THE COURT: No, I'm deleting that entirely and replacing it with the language that was just read into the record, which is as follows. Cruelty to animals, Florida Statute 828.12, Subsection (2): Before you can find the defendant guilty of cruelty to animals, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt: One, the defendant intentionally committed an act on the animal; and two, the act resulted in the excessive infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering. Is that it?

MS. KIRWIN: Yes, ma'am. (TII:195)

Appellant can make no claim of fundamental error on this record as to the jury instructions he affirmatively agreed to at trial. See State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("The only exception [to fundamental error] we have recognized is where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the

incomplete instruction"), citing Armstrong v. State, 579 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1991). Compare Black v. State, 695 So.2d 459, 460 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (defense counsel only agreed that the "instructions as given to the jury were as reviewed in the charge conference"). Armstrong articulates why the error is not preserved in a case such as this: "Any other holding would allow a defendant to intentionally inject error into the trial and then await the outcome with the expectation that if he is found guilty to conviction will be automatically reversed." 579 So. 2d 734, 735.

Petitioner's claim of fundamental error is waived, on this record, where he **affirmatively agrees** to the instructions as given. <u>Lucas</u>, <u>Armstrong</u>. This is the poster child of self-created error.

#### Merits

Should the Court find this issue susceptible of merits review, Respondent respectfully submits this is a case where the law of this state would be well benefitted by a short statement reiterating the principles of <u>Lucas</u> and <u>Armstrong</u>. Succinctly, that one cannot affirmatively agree to jury instructions below and then claim fundamental error on appeal.

As to the claim raised herein, it is all again predicated on Petitioner's self-discerned necessity for specific intent versus general intent. The untenability of this contention has been thoroughly explored prior and need not be undertaken anew here.

Once the unworkable specific/general intent distinction is not injected into the equation, there is no basis for the argument Petitioner posits here. This is not a strict liability offense and Respondent has never contended otherwise. Intent is required. It is just general intent and not specific intent as the First District correctly held.

Demonstrating the inapplicability of Petitioner's contention under this argument is the fact that the theory of defense actually presented at trial had nothing to do with all of these specific versus general intent postulations floated on appeal. It was a straightforward denial that he slashed the puppy's throat. (TII:216). See n.3 of Petitioner's merits brief: "Although Reynolds maintained at trial that he did not injure the dog, this is not an issue which can be raised on appeal, so undersigned counsel acknowledges his defense, but will argue as though Reynolds had committed the act." In other words, ignore what actually happened at trial so as to argue hypotheticals never at issue before the jury.

Petitioner flatly admitted the offense at trial, his defense being that he was not the perpetrator. (TII:216). Here, in complete disregard of the defense theory at trial - that he flatly denied involvement in the crime - an entirely new argument, plucked from mid-air, is made on appeal.

When it is kept in mind what his defense actually was at trial - flat factual innocence - and not all of these post-trial legal constructs - it is seen that the jury could validly reject the

defense theory presented to it: flat factual innocence. The true focus of inquiry on a claim of faulty jury instructions is whether the jury, on the instructions as given, can weigh a defendant's various defenses. <u>Scott v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 271 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981),

[T]he refusal of the trial court to give a specified requested instruction is harmless when the instructions as a whole clearly and adequately enabled the jury to consider the theory of defense.

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